

# **COUNCIL REGULAR SESSION**

Wednesday, November 03, 2021

# **APPROVED MINUTES**

## **MEMBERS PRESENT**

Mayor Rick Scholl Council President Doug Morten Councilor Patrick Birkle Councilor Stephen R. Topaz Councilor Jessica Chilton

## **STAFF PRESENT**

John Walsh, City Administrator Matt Brown, Deputy City Administrator Kathy Payne, City Recorder Jenny Dimsho, Associate Planner/Community Development Project Manager Mouhamad Zaher, Public Works Director Tina Curry, Event Coordinator

#### OTHERS

Paul VogelStephanie PattersonAngela WaymanBob BrawandBrady PreheimFrake

# CALL REGULAR SESSION TO ORDER – 7:03 p.m.

# PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

Mayor Scholl led the Pledge of Allegiance.

Councilor Topaz read the Council Mantra.

#### VISITOR COMMENTS – Limited to five (5) minutes per speaker

Angela Wayman. She is organizing the Spirit of Christmas parade for St. Helens and Scappoose. She started it last year due to Covid. The parade travels through neighborhoods and collects donations for Columbia Pacific Food Bank. They collected about 4,000 pounds of food last year. She is requesting the City sponsor the event by including an informational flyer in the next utility bill that is mailed.

Assistant City Administrator Brown reported that the next utility bills go out around November 20. Council adopted a fee for including information in utility bills to cover the costs of printing and mailing. It is \$500 for a standard black and white and \$1,500 for color two-sided. The service is only available to nonprofits. Angela said they are working on getting sponsors.

Council President Morten asked if it could be included in the City's e-newsletter. City Administrator Walsh agreed that it would be much more affordable.

Councilor Chilton asked if Angela is having them printed. Angela responded that Paulson's Printing is printing 2,000 for them in black and white. Brown clarified that an outside printing company prints and stuffs them. There have been cases where they physically delivered about 4,000 copies for stuffing.

- ♦ <u>Tina Curry</u>.
  - The Columbia County Public Information Officer contacted them about attending the AOC meeting, which includes elected officials and County staff from all of Oregon. They want their display table to be exclusively Spirit of Halloweentown. They have asked the City for things to display on the table.
  - Received a call from the Main Street program in Tennessee. They heard how successful Spirit of Halloweentown is and wanted specifics of what they are doing and how they are doing it.
  - The Price is Right held a Halloween episode and one of the prizes was a completely paid for trip to Spirit of Halloweentown.
  - Christmas Ships is December 11
    - Begins around 6:00 p.m. with Santa and his elves handing out candy on the Courthouse steps. It will be a walk-through instead of a drive-through this year.
    - Closing the Plaza and a portion of S. 1<sup>st</sup> Street to keep everyone safe.
    - Music will be performed.
    - There will be friendly, festive alpacas on site.
    - Last year, they provided to-go dinner boxes for the ship captains and their mates. She is waiting to hear if they want to do that again or try to eat together like in the past.
    - They did not have an official tree lighting with Santa last year. The tree was just lit when it was put up. She suggests doing the same thing.
    - They will be decorating the week before Thanksgiving this year.

Council President Morten heard a rumor of choirs or groups of people wanting to sing. Tina responded that she sent an email to all the churches in Columbia County, and no one responded.

Mayor Scholl agreed with lighting the tree as soon as it is up. Councilor Chilton would prefer to have an official tree lighting when everyone was there. It was decided to turn the lights off on the tree that day and then and have an official tree lighting that evening. Council President Morten suggested bringing Santa in with the taxi.

- ♦ <u>Brady Preheim</u>.
  - He hates the Council mantra.
  - He is opposed to giving a tax break to Cascades Tissue. They had record profits, made over \$625 million, and they want the City to give them a \$225,000 tax credit because they failed to create 21 jobs. Paul Vogel will not be able to tell you how many jobs they did or did not create because he does not have that information and has been asked several times. They need to provide the jobs, or they shouldn't get the tax break.
  - Spirit of Halloweentown was fantastic.
    - It's number three on Martha Stewart's list.
    - It is offered as a prize on a game show.
    - Now the County wants to take credit for what St. Helens is doing. At least they are recognizing that it is an event that affects the entire county.
    - He encouraged the Council to thank the Tourism Director for the fantastic event that she organized.
  - He does not understand why they can't move the pirate ships. The rules need to be enforced.
  - He thanked Councilor Chilton for the comment she made last week in response to Councilor Topaz saying he has a developer coming but won't provide it unless he's not censured. Councilor Chilton said something about that sounding like blackmail, which he agrees with. Why is Councilor Topaz not being held accountable for that?

Councilor Chilton read a letter into the record from Calli Ross who asked to have her letter read into the record.

"Hello, St. Helens City Council. We had a really awful time today at Halloweentown. Which is disappointing because today was supposed to mean a lot. I called last week and spoke with someone who assured me you were both handicap accessible and enforcing the indoor mask mandate.

I spent nearly \$200 purchasing 5 tickets for my family online following that reassurance. I drove my 6yo son who has end stage heart and lung disease, dependent on a ventilator and is non mobile following a prolonged heart attack an hour and a half to come to your event.

When we got there...we quickly realized there was no designated handicap parking spaces for the crowd...and it was purely first come first serve. We dragged him through mud and puddles across a field to even begin. We got our punch cards and started with the alien exhibit. After waiting in the rain for 20 mins we got to the front of the line and see the only way up is a steep, narrow staircase. He and his nurse waited outside while the rest of us went in. Neither of the people working at that attraction were wearing masks inside, only half of the families were and the young girl out front wasn't enforcing the mandate- or wearing one herself.

We attempted your haunted house next, but the 3rd curve is too narrow to negotiate his medical stroller (smaller width than a standard wheelchair) and had to turn back.

We went down to the whispering woods and found that the shuttle wasn't equipped to handle a wheelchair. With the help of the shuttle driver we were able to get my son in...where we just held onto him in the aisle. We pulled up to....Stairs. And an impossible gravel and mud path.

At that point we gave up. I returned and asked the person where punch cards were being handed out for a refund for my son and his nurse. I didn't request one for myself, my mother in law or my older son. I was respectful yet firm but treated with disdain. One person sent me to another. One told me "well just leave then and email someone" while trying to ignore me and speak to other guests.

And one finally reached out to someone on the phone who took my information and told me I would receive a refund .... When I started crying at the other's statement.

I reached out about our experience on some of the larger Portland area moms groups and the posts have kind of blown up. I was contacted by a local news reporter that wants to interview us and do a story on our experience Tuesday. I would like to hear The Spirit of Halloweentown's response before I do.

Why is there no designated handicap parking in a paid lot? Why are your props not even accessible to get to via wheelchair? What attractions do you offer for kids that are non mobile? What are you going to do to ensure your volunteers and staff are following the mask mandate? Being an old town is not an excuse to not attempt any inclusion. We visit Aurora on a regular basis and my son is able to be a participant. Small things can be done. The haunted house isles can be widened, the photo props can be placed next to foot paths or have paths built to them for easier access, you could easily add an arts and craft booth or pumpkin carving booth that kids of all abilities can participate. ADA designated handicap parking in the overflow lot, the amount of ADA parking is not proportional to the influx of people during your event (all spots were full when we visited on Sunday). The rudeness from your employee when I requested a refund because my handicapped child was stuck out in the rain instead of able to participate in anything, is just really not okay.

I hope that you all will take my letter as a learning experience, as to some of the changes that need to be made so that ALL children and adults can enjoy Halloweentown.

Thank you,

## Calli Ross"

Mayor Scholl apologized that she was confused about the event being handicap/ADA accessible. It clearly states on the website that the attractions she referred to are not ADA accessible or even stroller friendly. Councilor Chilton responded that they need to change that and make it accessible. Mayor Scholl pointed out other activities that are not ADA accessible. He would like to continue this discussion later. He is concerned about Calli. Councilor Chilton said she is also concerned about her and the way she was treated. Mayor Scholl apologized to Calli that she was misled and misinformed.

### DELIBERATIONS

## 1. Annexation of 58241 S. Division Road (McPherson)

**Motion:** Motion made by Council President Morten and seconded by Councilor Topaz to approve the annexation of 58241 S. Division Road. **Vote:** Yea: Mayor Scholl, Council President Morten, Councilor Birkle, Councilor Topaz, Councilor Chilton

## 2. Annexation of 35285 Millard Road (Columbia Soil & Water Conservation District)

**Motion:** Motion made by Council President Morten and seconded by Councilor Topaz to approve the annexation of 35285 Millard Road as recommended. **Vote:** Yea: Mayor Scholl, Council President Morten, Councilor Birkle, Councilor Topaz, Councilor Chilton

#### RESOLUTIONS

**3. Resolution No. 1938:** A Resolution of the City of St. Helens Waiving Standard Enterprise Zone Tax Abatement's Employee Requirements Under Section 3, HB 2343 (2021) for Cascades Tissue Group-Oregon Converting, a Division of Cascades Holding U.S. Inc. (Cascades), Located in the South Columbia County Enterprise Zone

Mayor Scholl read Resolution No. 1938 by title.

Paul Vogel, Executive Director of Columbia Economic Team and Enterprise Zone Manager for South Columbia County, was in attendance and explained what the resolution is for. He is here to advocate for their request as a business partner. The temporary employment waiver is time sensitive due to the legislative mandate. There is only a brief window to act. The employment waiver is an acknowledgement of the economic realities and the impact to the economic corruption the pandemic is having on businesses. The legislature did agree that this statutory opportunity will help enterprise zones help companies. Investments still have to be made, higher wages will have to be paid, and Business Oregon reports more than 30 businesses statewide are similarly impacted. The resolution is to provide a good faith acknowledgement of the circumstances and a temporary two-year opportunity for Cascades Tissue to achieve one of three of the required elements in order to retain the tax abatement approved by all six South Columbia County Enterprise Zones sponsors in late 2020, early 2021. Cascades has already made the \$14 million investment in equipment and is paying 150% of annual covered wages to employees. They are acting in good faith. They are falling short with the required 10% increase in zone-wide employment level in the first 10 months of this year. HB 2343 statutorily allows for more time to reach that level without the company losing the authorized abatement approved by the zone sponsors. Cascades could have requested a construction in process deferment, but they chose not to do that. The economy and market for their products has not been ambitious or helpful. The two new lines manufacture commercial grade towels, napkins, etc. Their primary customers are office buildings and workplaces where employees have not returned to work. Restaurants have closed, limited reopening, starved for workers, and have adjusted to using sanitizer as much as napkins. Cascades stated, "Covid-19 has significantly impacted Cascades sales as well as its production, due in large part to limited demand for Cascades products in the away from home market. In 2020, Cascades sales for its US away from home business underperformed its projections by \$19 million. In addition, Cascades current production levels

have been impacted by the diminished demand. Cascades Scappoose facility produced 521,000 cases less than projected figures for the first two quarters of 2021. It represents a 22% reduction in anticipated production. Cascades has made a good faith investment in Columbia County. The total amount of investment today is more than \$121 million and more than \$60 million in St. Helens. They pay 150% of annual averages wages and employ close to 200 people in local plant operations and management. The company purchased an extra 15 acres at the Scappoose site for a future Phase II. With these previous investments, the Enterprise Zone investors have approved multiple two-year extended abatements that have worked as intended. Over the next three years, approximately more than \$1 million will begin rolling back into tax rolls, taxing districts, urban renewals, etc." Paul went on to review the request. Cascades needs more time, which this two-year extension would allow.

Mayor Scholl agreed with Brady's statement. He is disappointed. The 21 jobs were going to benefit St. Helens and they failed to meet that. Councilor Chilton agreed. There are plenty of other businesses in the same boat.

Councilor Topaz talked about the number of "help wanted" signs on businesses. The employment picture on the street is very different than a normal year.

Discussion of exemption. Due to Covid-19, the need for products from this facility has decreased and they have not been able to fill the 21 positions. They will lose the exemption if they don't meet the requirements in 2022.

**Motion:** Motion made by Councilor Birkle and seconded by Councilor Topaz to adopt Resolution No. 1938. **Vote:** Yea: Mayor Scholl, Councilor Birkle, Councilor Topaz; Nay: Council President Morten, Councilor Chilton

# AWARD BID/CONTRACT

4. Little Street, Tualatin Street, & N. 7th Street Waterline Improvements to Clark & Sons Excavating for \$295,778

**Motion:** Motion made by Councilor Birkle and seconded by Councilor Chilton to approve '4' above.

#### Discussion.

Councilor Birkle pointed out the significant range of bids. Walsh confirmed that they met and reviewed the bid closely. Their biggest number was on mobilization. Associate Planner/Community Development Project Manager Dimsho added that she spoke to Engineering Project Manager I Darroux briefly about this. Darroux has seen this before when a company really wants to get into public bidding so they bid low on mobilization or things they can control. Walsh said there are a lot of contractors who are hungry and trying to fill their schedules.

Vote: Yea: Mayor Scholl, Council President Morten, Councilor Birkle, Councilor Topaz, Councilor Chilton

#### **APPROVE AND/OR AUTHORIZE FOR SIGNATURE**

- 5. Second Amendment to Agreement with Pacific Northern Environmental DBA Advanced Electrical Technologies for Water Filtration Facility SCADA Update
- 6. Contract Payments
- 7. Infrastructure Design Work Order #1 with Mackenzie for St. Helens Industrial Business Park

**Motion:** Motion made by Councilor Birkle and seconded by Councilor Chilton to approve '5' through '7' above.

Discussion.

Councilor Topaz reported that number seven was just added, and he has not had enough time to review it. Walsh explained that it is the third draft, and they are trying to move things forward. It's a work order

that will get them to another work order. It generally lays out the water, sewer, understanding the storm conditions on the site, and addressing environmental issues. There is a limited window with the ARPA funds to complete the project.

Councilor Topaz repeated that he wants more time to study it before making a decision. Councilor Birkle would also like more time to review it.

**Vote:** Yea: Mayor Scholl and Council President Morten; Nay: Councilor Birkle, Councilor Topaz, Councilor Chilton; motion fails

**Motion:** Motion made by Councilor Birkle and seconded by Councilor Topaz to approve '5' and '6' above. **Vote:** Yea: Mayor Scholl, Council President Morten, Councilor Birkle, Councilor Topaz, Councilor Chilton

Walsh encouraged Council to reach out to him or Dimsho if they have questions when they review the document prior to the next meeting.

#### CONSENT AGENDA FOR APPROVAL

- 8. Council Work Session, Executive Session, Hearing, and Regular Session Minutes dated October 20, 2021
- 9. Accounts Payable Bill Lists

**Motion:** Motion made by Council President Morten and seconded by Councilor Topaz to approve '8' and '9' above. **Vote:** Yea: Mayor Scholl, Councilor President Morten, Councilor Birkle, Councilor Topaz, Councilor Chilton

## WORK SESSION ACTION ITEMS

Waste Connections (Hudson Garbage) Bike Build

Mayor Scholl reported that they reviewed the bike build during the work session. A motion was made, seconded, and tabled until tonight to approve donating \$500 to the bike build and the coordination with Recreation Manager Duggan to use the Recreation Center.

Vote: Yea: Mayor Scholl, Council President Morten, Councilor Birkle, Councilor Topaz, Councilor Chilton

#### Spirit of Christmas Parade

Discussion of Angela Wayman's request. Councilor Birkle had the impression that Angela is seeking sponsors to pay for the cost of flyers to be added to the utility bills.

Mayor Scholl agreed with Councilor President Morten's suggestion to share the information in the City's newsletter and on social media. Walsh pointed out that the City's social media policy says they will support nonprofits. He is not aware that this organization is a nonprofit. Discussion ensued about it being a community event. The parade could partner with a nonprofit.

#### MAYOR SCHOLL REPORTS

- Spirit of Halloweentown had a lot going on. The last weekend was beautiful.
- He is looking forward to Christmas.
- There is a lot of good things going on in our community.
- They are doing well with master plan updates.

#### COUNCIL MEMBER REPORTS

Council President Morten reported...

- Dimsho authored the Parks Master Plan update when she first started, which was a huge undertaking. They are beginning to review it for updates again.
- There is no Parks & Trails Commission meeting this month.
- Unfortunately, the Veterans Day ceremony at the McCormick Veterans Plaza has been cancelled.

• Thanked Tina for thanking the service-based groups who helped with Spirit of Halloweentown. His fellow Kiwanis service members embraced the opportunity and made it happen.

Councilor Topaz reported...

- Has received a number of concerns about Spirit of Halloweentown
  - Why is the Houlton area not involved in the action as well?
  - There are not enough garbage cans. People are throwing garbage on private property.
  - There was no transportation for people wanting to go to the Highway for a cheap meal.
- Library Director Jeffries is going to retire earlier than planned. She will leave a big hole. She has built an incredibly good crew.
- He would like to request as many federal dollars as possible for the Sewer and Stormwater Master Plans. The infrastructure has been patchworked since the 1900s. He recommends painting as bad a picture as possible to get money.

Councilor Chilton reported...

 She read a statement into the record. "I just want to take a moment to talk about a goal of mine as our City grows. I would like to see a more inclusive City for all people, including our parks, riverfront, and community events. My hopes are that all people who live here and travel here feel included and able to participate and enjoy the beauty of St. Helens. We have a job. A job to provide this and improve quality of life through access and design that is inclusive to all abilities. It is my hope that we will continue to move in this direction as we look towards the future."

Councilor Birkle reported...

- He had the opportunity to visit Spirit of Halloweentown a couple more times.
  - Participated in the Halloween celebration at the Klondike.
  - It really is fun to talk with people who enjoy visiting our town.
  - For a majority of people, it seems to be a worthwhile experience.
  - With all good work, there are things they can continue to work on and improve. He was not aware of the letter beforehand. It is important to be aware of these concerns as they plan for the future.
- He was excited to attend the Main Street Alliance meeting. There was a lot of positive energy. They are headed in the right direction.

# **OTHER BUSINESS**

# ADJOURN – 8:24 p.m.

Respectfully submitted by Lisa Scholl, Deputy City Recorder.

ATTEST:

/s/ Kathy Payne Kathy Payne, City Recorder /s/ Rick Scholl

Rick Scholl, Mayor